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N’oublie pas


La vie sans amis c’est comme


un jardin sans fleurs




 





Twenty years after her passing, this book is dedicated to my great friend, Marlene Dietrich.
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INTRODUCTION





Greta Garbo was an enigma. She appeared as if from nowhere, taking Hollywood – and the world – by storm at a time when the movies were ruled by the likes of ‘America’s Sweetheart’, Mary Pickford, and a clutch of now-forgotten vamps. She was one of the few to survive the transition from silents to talkies – not only this, but to reach such unprecedented heights of success as to leave her contemporaries gasping in amazement.


Because she was a foreigner from a country where attitudes towards life – and sex – were much more relaxed than in 1920s America, myths and rumours sprang up about her upon her arrival Stateside, as had happened with Valentino. Here was no ordinary girl-next-door, but a sophisticated, worldly woman who had probably seen and done more in her twenty years than most of them would in a dozen lifetimes. MGM, headed by the tetchy Louis B. Mayer, had no way of knowing how to handle her or her irrational behaviour, yet they complied with her every whim and submitted to demands other stars would never have got away with because, as a creature of great mystery as well as one of great beauty, the general public – the ones who put money in their pockets – could not get enough of her. No one would ever tell Garbo how to dress, how to conduct herself, and most importantly what to say. Unlike the other stars on their roster, she also refused to submit to a largely fabricated biography penned by a studio publicist. Until she stopped giving interviews, very early in her career, she replied to each question she wanted to reply to with stark honesty. If the subject was too personal, she would tell the interviewer to mind their own business and if she disliked a journalist, she would tell them so to their face and walk away.


In the male-orientated studio system, Garbo afforded herself the kind of power no other actress had ever possessed. She was never less than her own woman, the pawn of no man – not even when it came to love affairs. If things ever seemed like they were getting a little too tough and she might be disciplined – fired, even – she would pronounce the stock statement, ‘Fine. Then I will go home to Sweden!’


Garbo was a minor star in Sweden when her Svengali, Mauritz Stiller, took her to America. There she was treated like some kind of freak, though it was not long before she put her most formidable weapons to good use: her ice-queen beauty, sharp wit and abrasive tongue, her indifference towards her surroundings, money, and her peers. Soon she was taking lovers of her choice, caring little if they belonged to someone else. When MGM warned her to steer clear of a man – or woman – she ran towards them with open arms.


Garbo appeared with most of the great stars of the day, and eclipsed them all in every scene they shared: Clark Gable, Wallace Beery, Marie Dressler, the Barrymores, Robert Taylor, Joan Crawford, and most importantly, John Gilbert, with whom she had a massively publicised affair. She very rarely granted interviews – when she did, they were heavily edited and censored by MGM’s publicity department. Here, they are drawn from their original uncensored sources and give a clear insight into Garbo’s mystique, and why she always wanted to be alone. On and off the screen, Garbo never ceased being an actress, keeping herself constantly in check, like a great military strategist planning her every move – so terrified was she of letting slip that infamous mask of cool reserve.


Garbo’s films are masterpieces. Though she portrayed great heroines from literature and world history – Anna Karenina, Marie Walewska, The Lady of the Camellias, Queen Christina – each role was specifically adapted to match her complex persona, which, as this represented a myriad of contrasting moods, expressions and emotions, proved a nightmare for scriptwriters and directors alike. Garbo lived these roles, and with her innate talent for climbing inside her character’s skin, refused to play a scene other than her way. If her way was not accepted, the set would be closed down until her wishes could be carried out to the letter.


Like her nearest counterpart, fellow ‘exile’ Marlene Dietrich, Garbo knew more about lighting and stagecraft than the most experienced technician. She very rarely rehearsed with any of her co-stars, even for complicated dance-routines, preparing her role in the privacy of her home and always getting it right. She could change her facial expression ten times within the space of a few seconds: from joy to melancholy, from laughter to tears, from passion to ‘Pity me!’ This pathos is most evident in her three most celebrated films, Camille, Anna Karenina and Queen Christina.


Garbo left the movies in 1941, following what she considered unfair criticism of her yet to be released film, Two-Faced Woman. Despite numerous phenomenal offers, she never faced another movie camera and for half a century lived as an ‘open recluse’ – rarely confined to her apartment for long, travelling the world and mixing with the social set, yet always on the lookout for ‘that accursed photographer’, with friends sworn to the strictest secrecy regarding her movements. Garbo always kept a magazine or hat in her hand, which would be brought up to her face whenever she felt in danger of being photographed.


Garbo’s major relationships during her post-Hollywood years were conducted outside the acting fraternity. She had an affinity with gay men and Sapphic women: socialite Mercedes de Acosta, musician Leopold Stokowski, nutritionist Gayelord Hauser, and tetchy snapper Cecil Beaton all boasted passionate love affairs with her, but these are now known to have been platonic. Alistair Cooke called her, ‘Every man’s fantasy mistress. She gave you the impression that, if your imagination had to sin, it could at least congratulate itself on its impeccable taste.’


Garbo said more with her eyes than most of her contemporaries would ever dare put into words. An involuntary gesture from her – a frown, the slightest shrug of the shoulder – would have acted every one of today’s so-called superstars off the screen.


This is her story.






















CHAPTER ONE


GRETA GUSTAFFSON: SAPPHO RISING 







‘I can’t remember being young, really young like other children. I always had my opinions, but never told my mind. No one ever seemed to think I was young!’





She was born Greta Lovisa Gustaffson1 at 7.30 p.m. on 8 September 1905, at the Gamla Sodra BB Maternity Hospital in Södermalm, on Stockholm’s south side, at that time little more than a slum. Records show that she was a healthy, seven-and-a-half-pound baby, though this did not prevent her parents from insisting she should be baptised into the Lutheran faith (then technically Sweden’s only legal religion). For the first ten years of her life, almost everyone addressed her as ‘Kata’, the way she mispronounced her name.


Greta’s father, Karl Alfred, was born in Frinnaryd, a small farming community in the south of the country, on 11 May 1871. The few surviving photographs of him reveal a strong resemblance to his daughter: tall – around 6´ 3˝ – but not heavily built, with fair hair, angular cheekbones, an aquiline nose, full, almost feminine lips, deep-set eyes, and unusually broad shoulders. Karl Alfred preferred frowning to smiling – another Garbo trait – and enjoyed singing, but only when no one was listening.


Her mother was Anna Lovisa Karlsson, a plump, rosy-cheeked peasant’s daughter of Lapp stock – she was born in Högsby, a village in Värmland, central Sweden, on 10 September 1872. Garbo is alleged to have once remarked how fortunate she had been not to have inherited any of her mother’s traits other than her long, thick eyelashes and drooping eyelids – exquisite characteristics which would set her apart from just about every other Hollywood star. Karl Alfred and Anna Lovisa met in Högsby, where he was working on a local farm. They married on 8 May 1898, just ten weeks before the birth of their only son, Sven Alfred. Their other daughter, Alva Maria, was born on 20 September 1903, almost two years to the day before her more celebrated sister.


Covering the large island formerly known as Ason, Södermalm was one of the most densely populated areas of Scandinavia, and one of the poorest – a catastrophe of dilapidated buildings and narrow backstreets festooned with rubbish, the type of scenario which would not have been amiss in a penurious Brecht and Weill drama.


Home for the Gustaffsons was a shabby, three-room apartment, without its own facilities, in a tawdry tenement building at Blekingegaten 32 – on the third or fourth floor, depending on which account one reads (the block was demolished in 1972). The apartment was connected to an equally unbecoming courtyard by a series of stone staircases with rickety handrails. All five members of the family slept in the same room – Greta on a truckle bed in the middle, where there were fewer draughts blowing through the broken window frame.


Karl Alfred, not a healthy man despite his size, supported his family as best he could by taking on ad-hoc jobs, mostly helping out the local butcher or abattoir, evidence of which is supported by surviving photographs. In one, he and another employee wear butcher’s aprons. One holds a slaughter-hammer, while there is an entrails bucket in the foreground. Behind them stands a cow, about to be led into the abattoir – hanging from the wall are meat carcasses.2 Anna worked most days as a cleaner, skivvying for houses in a more opulent part of town. Alva, when she was old enough, did most of the shopping and cooking, while Greta was assigned to menial duties: washing dishes, sweeping the stairs and cleaning the outside toilet. This left her with a lifelong resentment of housework.


Garbo rarely spoke of her childhood. Indeed, the subject was broached with such reticence that one might be excused for thinking it might never have occurred! ‘I was born. I grew up. I have lived like every other person,’ she once said, ‘That’s all there is to anyone’s life story, isn’t it?’3 She also recalled her ‘games of pretence’, and her belief that children should be given as much freedom as possible to think for themselves and develop their young minds, a process which she was convinced would shape their future lives: 




When just a baby, I was always figuring, wondering what it was all about, just why we were living. Children should be allowed to think when they please, should not be molested! ‘Go and play now,’ their mothers and fathers tell them. They shouldn’t do that. Thinking means so much, even to small children … I didn’t play much. Except skating and skiing and throwing snowballs. I did most of my playing by thinking. I played a little with my brother and sister, pretending we were in shows. Like other children. But usually I did my own pretending. I was up and down. Happy one moment. The next moment, there was nothing left for me.4





Over the years, nothing would change. In 1931 she told a Swedish journalist friend, Lars Saxon (1900–50), ‘I found my greatest pleasure in my childhood dreams. Unfortunately, as a grown woman I am still the same, finding it hard to adjust to other people.’5 Saxon knew more about Garbo’s childhood than most, but never betrayed her confidence, and therefore always had her respect. Not so Screen Book’s Peter Joel, a Los Angeles-based Swedish reporter who in 1933 earned her enmity after visiting Stockholm, and Blekingegaten 32, where, with the help of a few of the locals, he pieced together a scenario involving the young Greta Gustaffson before fame had beckoned, when she and her family had struggled to survive:




In a small courtyard, in the rear of an apartment house, a small girl plays with her dolls. She talks to them, admonishing, cajoling, threatening. She walks back and forth. Her hands move. Her mood changes. Her voice is soft, then high-pitched then laughing. She lives through various emotions. Pretending. Always pretending. The courtyard is no different than hundreds of others in Stockholm. A patch of green grass, worn to the soil in some places. A place where the sunlight comes filtering down with its cheer and warmth. A sheltered little place, especially in the sweet coolness of a summer evening. But the girl who plays with the dolls adds distinction to the courtyard. The girl is Greta Gustafsson.6





Joel might have been describing the Garbo of the future, in a downbeat scene from Susan Lenox: Her Fall And Rise, or Anna  Christie. It was certainly not a scenario that she wanted the world to know had happened for real. Joel interviewed the Gustaffsons’ next-door neighbour, Mrs Emanuel Lonn, who recalled an amiable but somewhat bossy child who knew back then that she was going somewhere in life:




She was always so happy and full of life. She spent many hours here in my apartment, and I liked her very much. Everybody liked her … She used to get all the children together out there [in the courtyard]. And how the children loved her! They came from all around to have Greta teach them how to play games. You could tell then that she was a born actress … She mentioned it to me many times. She was so fond of pretending in her games … You couldn’t help but love her. And she was so pretty!





Another neighbour and friend, Agnes Lind, ran the tobacconists store which Greta visited every day to pick up her father’s cigarettes and study the dozens of photographs lining the walls: all the famous Scandinavian theatrical stars of the day. Her favourites, Mrs Lind said, were the actor Kalle Pedersen, with whom she would one day become involved, and the operetta singer Naima Wifstrand.7


Some years later, Garbo opened up – but only briefly – to another friend of sorts, Swedish writer and journalist Sven Broman, whom she befriended in 1985, five years before her death. To Broman, she recalled her fondness for the Salvation Army, and for selling copies of Stridsropet (the Swedish equivalent of Britain’s War Cry) in the streets of Stockholm. In later years, Garbo would drop in frequently at the Salvation Army Mission near her New York apartment.


In August 1912, unusually a month shy of her seventh birthday, Greta was enrolled at the Katarina Elementary School and barely tolerated the establishment:




I hated school and I hated the restrictions it imposed on me. There were so many things to do away from school! History I liked, though the subject filled me with all manner of dreams. My fantasies led me to shortening the life of a cruel king and replacing him with a romantic knight, or reawakening an unhappy queen centuries after her death. But I was afraid of the map – geography, you call it? I could never understand how anyone could be interested in faraway places, or in trying to solve ridiculous problems – such as how many litres of water could pass through a tap so-and-so wide in one hour and fifteen minutes. But I had to go to school like the other children!8





In school photographs, Greta is by far the biggest girl in her class and, as if aware of this, stands slightly hunched forwards, with her long hair reaching her shoulders. Indeed, because of her size she was always given the job of cleaning the blackboard – a task which delighted her because, she said, nothing pleased her more than obliterating the ‘rubbish’ the teachers had been trying to drill into her. That said, she appears to have been an able, but at times lazy pupil. Her school records and reports, dating from this time until June 1919, have survived. Her teachers deemed her well above average in most subjects – awarding her straight As in behavioural application, discipline, concentration, religious studies, reading, writing and arithmetic. On the other hand she received Bs (the lowest grades) for art and gymnastics.


The dolls phase was short-lived as Greta took possession of her brother Sven’s collection of tin soldiers. She was also the local marbles champion. Very much the tomboy, when not ruling her ‘courtyard mob’ she roamed the streets of Södermalm with her gang, frequently getting up to no good. She began wearing Sven’s clothes – because the family were so poor, hand-me-downs were obligatory, and Greta was too big to wear her sister’s cast-offs. One nosey, complaining elderly local lady who took on the ‘Gustaffson boy’ was rewarded by regularly having a bucket of sand and water flung at her window. Yet in direct contrast to this bravado there were reports of incredible shyness – bolting under the table, or hiding behind the drapes whenever a stranger visited the Gustaffson apartment. Also, the young Greta appears to have been always hungry and not averse to dropping in at the local soup kitchen whenever her father took sick, which was often, and there was no money to put food on the table.


The acting bug, Garbo said, bit when she was around six or seven. In 1927, in a very rare interview she told Ruth Biery of Photoplay how she had stumbled upon two theatres in Stockholm, the Soder and the Mosebacke, opposite each other in the same street. Because she had no money to buy a ticket, she lingered around the stage door – occasionally, if no one was around she would sneak inside and watch from the wings, but always make herself scarce the moment the curtain came down:




I would smell the greasepaint. There is no smell in the world like the smell of a backyard of a theatre. No smell that will mean that much to me – ever! … When I was just a little thing I had some watercolours, just as other children have watercolours. Only I drew pictures on myself rather than on paper. I used to paint my lips, my cheeks, paint pictures on me. I thought that was the way actresses painted!9





Greta’s best friend at the time, who sometimes accompanied her on her theatrical adventures, was Elizabeth Malcolm, with whom she stayed in touch after relocating to Hollywood – until Malcolm ‘betrayed’ her by revealing details of her childhood, albeit innocuous ones, to Motion Picture. According to Malcolm, on warm days she and the budding actress would scramble on to the roof of the row of outside lavatories in the courtyard of Blekingegaten 32 and, mindless of the obvious stench – these were earth toilets, shovelled out and emptied once a week by local workmen – pretend they were relaxing in some exotic location:




‘We are on a sandy beach,’ Greta would say, ‘Can’t you see the waves breaking on the shore? How clear the sky is! And do you hear how sweetly the orchestra at the Casino is playing? Look at that girl in the funny green bathing suit! It’s fun to be here and look at the bathers, isn’t it?’ Greta’s vivid imagination had no difficulty in transferring the tin roof into a glistening beach, the backyard with its clothes lines and ash cans into a windswept ocean, the raspy gramophone music floating through some neighbour’s open window into some sweet melodies from a fashionable casino orchestra. The children shouting in the yard were, of course, the bathers.10





Greta was well-versed in the lives of all the big American movie stars – so far as she could glean from their frequently faked (by studio publicity departments) biographies in the movie magazines. Her first glimpse of these stars in the flesh occurred in 1913 when Karl Alfred took her to Stockholm’s Bromma Airport, where she saw Mary Pickford and her husband, Douglas Fairbanks, arriving for a Scandinavian tour. Not much more than a decade later, she would have eclipsed them both.


In 1914, war broke out, with Sweden opting to remain officially neutral. No one knew for sure how long the conflict would last, if or when the government would change its mind. Rationing was imposed and the country – particularly the poorer classes – suffered the same as elsewhere. Karl Alfred had an allotment on the outskirts of the city, close to the shore of Lake Arsta, and once a week he packed a picnic basket and treated the family to an ‘outing’ to tend the tiny plot of land. While their parents worked, the children swam in the lake – Greta was a powerful swimmer, and swam regularly, often in the ocean, until she was almost eighty – picked whatever produce was ready to be eaten, sold it locally, and used the money to buy household essentials. With the outbreak of war, these outings stopped: Karl Alfred could no longer afford the fare for the trolley-bus.


Greta was a big girl (by the age of thirteen she would have reached her full height of 5´ 7˝) and was eating almost as much as the rest of her family put together. The now daily diet of potatoes and bread – butter was expensive, and consumed only on Sundays – never affected her. Throughout her life, even when wealthy, she never ate extravagantly. She was a robust and healthy child, while everyone about her suffered from a variety of ailments: Anna and Alva were prone to chest infections, while her father and Sven were frequently stricken with intestinal problems attributed to their high-starch diet.


For the Gustaffsons, these were anxious times, as Garbo explained to Lars Saxon:




My father would be sitting in a corner, scribbling figures on a newspaper. On the other side of the room, my mother would be repairing old clothes. We [children] would talk in low voices, or remain silent, filled with anxiety as if danger was in the air. Such evenings are unforgettable for a sensitive girl.11







Greta coped with her hunger pangs by making more visits to the soup kitchens, though her intentions were far from selfish. To ease the boredom of those standing in line she and her frangine, Elizabeth Malcolm, put on little ‘street-cabaret’ performances, doubling as anti-war protests, which they believed earned them the right to the gratis meal on offer – forward thinking for nine-year-olds, though it was Greta who scripted and choreographed each piece. Draped in a white bed sheet, she appeared as the Goddess of Peace – her friend, the handmaiden who crouched subserviently at her feet – and delivered pacifist speeches and poems, decrying the shedding of blood and the needless loss of life which was happening in every country in the world (she believed) but Sweden. And on the rare occasions when someone threw a few coppers at her feet, she collected these not for herself but to buy food for her elderly neighbours on Blekingegaten.


Sometimes, these propaganda trips took Greta as far as Fjallgratan, in Stockholm’s Italian quarter, where the mind boggles to think of a clumsy-looking but pretty girl stumbling among all manner of low life and poverty to remind them, in no uncertain terms, of the horrors of a war they were not interested in. She wagged school to embark on these escapades, and was so wrapped up in her ‘work’ that her father and brother had to go looking for her. Her parents never punished her for going walkabout, though she once received a spanking from her teacher for playing truant. One of her childhood friends, Kaj Gynt (of whom more later) held this incident responsible for her frequently crippling shyness later in life:




Before the whole class, the future queen of the screen had her small panties unbuttoned, was turned across the teacher’s knee, and while we all looked on was soundly spanked. The humiliation of that public chastisement wounded her beyond anything. From that day she shrank more and more into herself. It was the end of her childhood.12





To Ruth Biery, Garbo recalled a childhood incident when she had rescued her father. Karl Alfred had been out with friends, and when he failed to return home for his supper, Anna sent out a search party. Greta was apparently the only one who could handle him when inebriated:




I saw two men fighting. They were drunk. I can’t stand people who are drunk! One was big and the other little. The big man was hurting the little one. I went up and pulled on the big man’s sleeve. Asked him why he was doing it … The big man said to the little man, ‘You can go now. Here’s your little daughter!’ I ran away. I wasn’t his ‘little daughter’ anymore.13





Garbo almost certainly is being facetious here. Her father was one of the biggest men in the neighbourhood, but in her eyes, now that he had humiliated her by getting into a scrap – and coming off worst – she had demoted him to the ‘little man’ whom she would never see in the same light again. The episode also appears to have provided her with an almost pathological loathing of arguments and violence. ‘It’s just the same today,’ she told Ruth Biery, ‘If I see an accident or hear two people fighting, I am just sick all over. I never fight, and I won’t be doing any fighting in my pictures!’


In common with many of the poorer European communities, the one Garbo grew up in frequently staved off hunger pangs with an over-indulgence of tobacco and alcohol. She herself smoked from an early age, though she was never what would be called a drinker. Neither does her father appear to have been an alcoholic, except that his feeble constitution resulted in him getting drunk faster than most men. He could also be a nasty drunk, though Garbo always denied rumours that he had been physically violent towards his family.


Greta had always been closer to her father than her mother, but seeing this mighty rock being toppled during a scrap with a lesser mortal made her feel ashamed of him. She did not know at the time why he had been beaten by a weaker man – that he was in fact very sick. Therefore she began spending more time away from the apartment, and less time at school, now more than ever determined to become an actress. The major stumbling block towards achieving this goal, however, was that in Sweden not just anyone could step on to a stage and play Shakespeare or Ibsen. Unless one wished to augment one of the more disreputable players groups, one had to graduate via the Royal Dramatic Academy and, like L’Academie Française and other eminent European institutions, they were fussy about who they allowed through their hallowed portals. Besides which, Greta was too young to apply for a place there.


There was, however, another way: the movies. As was happening in Hollywood, each morning hundreds of hopefuls would gather in front of the studio gates in and around Stockholm in the hope of being ‘spotted’ by a casting director and hired as an extra. In February 1917, Greta and Elizabeth Malcolm set off for the Nordisk Studios, on the city’s Lidingö Island – not the easiest of locations to reach in winter, when there was twelve inches of snow on the ground.


Unless the studios specifically requested child actors by advertising in the movie magazines, the legal age requirement for extras in Sweden was eighteen. Therefore, wearing more make-up than might have been prudent, the two girls set off for Lidingö Island. Elizabeth Malcolm later recalled Greta’s logical way of thinking: if her (then) favourite movie star Mary Pickford could get away with playing child roles in her mid-twenties, then why could they not reverse the procedure? To get to the island, the friends took the trolley-bus to the toll-bridge, but could not go any further because they had no money to pay for the toll. No problem for Greta, who decided that they would walk across the frozen water to the island. They were halfway across, Malcolm said, when there was a sudden and violent snowstorm, forcing them to turn back and trudge home because the trolley-buses had stopped running.14


Vowing to return to the Nordisk Studios when the weather was more clement, Greta knuckled down to her studies. The war ended in 1918, and the Armistice coincided with Karl Alfred Gustaffson’s health taking a turn for the worse. Greta’s father had suffered from kidney stones for some time – unable to pay to see a specialist, he had taken a doctor’s advice to drink plenty of water and take long walks. Now, there were times when he was too ill to get out of bed. It is possible that he may have been a victim of the influenza pandemic which was wiping out millions worldwide, surviving the malady, but only just. Neither was Karl Alfred’s condition helped by the scandal which ‘rocked’ the Gustaffsons at this time.


Twenty-year-old Sven had fallen for a milkmaid named Elsa Hagerman while working at a local farm, and got her pregnant. One source claimed that, towards the end of her confinement, the family took Elsa in and offered her moral and financial support following the birth of her son, who was named Sven after his father. This seems unlikely: Garbo later claimed that the first time she had seen the boy, he had been ten years old.15


As there was no Public Assistance in Sweden in those days, it was a case of the rest of the family ‘mucking in’ to keep their heads above water. Anna was still cleaning the rich folks’ homes, while Alva and Sven took ad-hoc work wherever they could. Greta, who does not appear to have yet been told how seriously ill her father was, continued with her dreams of becoming an actress. In June 1919, she arrived home from school and announced that she would not be going back. Neither of her parents attempted to get her to change her mind and a few days later, so that she would not be there when the school inspector came around, she was sent to stay with Anna’s relatives in Högsby. Garbo would always regret leaving school early, and spend the rest of her life seeking out and socialising with people she considered more intelligent and intellectual than herself.


When Greta returned to Södermalm in January 1920, she took up where she had left off – helping her mother during the day, then doing the rounds of the theatres until the early hours. Two of her favourite stars were actor-singers Sigurd Wallén and Joseph Fischer, but it was at the Mosebacke, within comfortable walking distance of the South Side, that she met her biggest idol. Kalle Pedersen (1895–1958) was a handsome, 6´ 1˝ Danish ex-prizefighter. In 1915 he had been crowned Central European Amateur Middleweight Champion, but he had given up boxing to marry his childhood sweetheart, Cleo Willard, and to go on the stage, where he soon made a name for himself as a musical comedy star. In 1923, having changed his name to Carl Brisson, he triumphed on the London stage as Prince Danilo in The Merry Widow, and later carved a successful niche for himself in Hollywood. Whether he reciprocated Greta’s advances is not known. She may have lied to him about her age, and if she turned up at the theatre made up as in her later confirmation photo, Pedersen might not have felt it necessary to ask. The actor was appearing in the revue, The Count Of Soder, a variation of the one which he had been touring Scandinavia for several years – the theory being that, if the title was changed at every venue to incorporate the name of the city, the locals would be fooled into believing that they were about to see a new piece, written especially for them.


Greta was so infatuated with Pedersen that she collected every cutting and photograph she could find, and pinned these to the wall at Blekingegaten 32. And now she was no longer content just to hang around the stage door – she insisted the doorman let her in, claiming that she was a friend of the star. Flattered by the attention, Pedersen gave her a job as his prompter – each evening she sat in the audience and kick-started the applause when he walked on to the stage, then each time he began a song. According to Greta’s version of events, the ruse backfired one evening when a technician turned the spotlight on her and she fled from the theatre, horrified at having been made the centre of attention. Pedersen told a different story: Greta had begun taking him flowers, and one evening sneaked into his dressing room and drew a heart on the wall within which she scrawled, ‘Greta loves Kalle’. Subsequently, the next time they met he snarled, ‘Go home to your mother, little Kata!’


No sooner had Greta recovered from her ‘ordeal’ than she was given the devastating news that her father had but a few months to live. Her first concern was in getting him the medical care he needed – and that cost money. To raise this, she took a job as a tvalflicka (lather-girl) at Einer Wideback’s, the barber’s shop where she had often accompanied her father to read movie magazines. This was not as unusual an occupation for a woman as it seems. Most of the tvalflicka in Stockholm were female, as were many barbers. Neither were Greta’s duties restricted to lathering men’s faces. She was responsible for cleaning and laying out the razors and scissors, washing the towels, and cleaning the sinks. Besides Wideback’s, she worked at Ekengrens, whose owner recalled, ‘She was really one of the most beautiful creatures I have ever seen. She was more filled out in those days, almost buxom, and she simply radiated happiness. She was a sunbeam!’


Mrs Ekengren was of course speaking in hindsight, having seen her celebrated former employee on the screen, after enormous changes had been effected on her appearance. Photographs taken of Greta at the time reveal her to have been handsome, certainly, but not specifically beautiful. For Karl Alfred, however, it was too late. By late spring he was completely bedridden, at which point Greta gave up her jobs and hardly left his side. He died on 1 June 1920, of nephritis, aged just forty-eight.


Garbo later told a French friend, Roger Normand, who she met by way of Jean Cocteau, ‘It was a slip of a girl who travelled behind the hearse to the [Skogskyrogaarden] cemetery – but a mature woman who walked away from her father’s graveside.’16


The occasion also proved an exercise in ultimate self control, useful in her later life when, no matter what happened to her, no matter how dramatic or tragic, Garbo would never put on the slightest display of emotion while in public. Recalling the time when the bottom had dropped out of her world, she told Lars Saxon:




There was only sobbing and moaning to be heard in my home. My brother and sister would not even try to hide their grief. I frequently had to tell them to shut up. To my mind, a great tragedy should be born with silence. It seemed a disgrace to display grief in front of all the neighbours by constantly weeping. My sorrow was as profound as theirs – I cried myself to sleep for over a year. I also fought against the ridiculous urge to rush out in the middle of the night to look at his grave – to make sure that he hadn’t been buried alive.17





On 13 June, less than two weeks after losing her father, Greta was confirmed. For twelve weeks, she had attended classes given by Pastor Ahlfeld – reluctantly because she had been desperate to spend every precious moment with her dying father. The photographs taken during the ceremony belie her age. In them one sees the Greta who set out for Lidingö Island – fourteen, going on twenty-one, wearing too much make-up, trying to look sensual, her hair over-dressed – as one biographer observes, looking like the picture on a chocolate box. In one picture, wearing her white confirmation dress and holding a bunch of roses, she looks almost gargantuan as she sits on a wooden chair, which has been turned sideways. In the group picture, she towers above the other girls, the ribbons atop her head making her appear even taller.


In the weeks following her father’s death, Greta became increasingly paranoid about losing her mother and sister. Sven, she decided, had paved his own pathway to Calvary by getting his girlfriend pregnant, therefore it was up to her to look out for him from now on. Her possessiveness became such that, if she saw Anna talking to a neighbour in the street, she would distract her and drag her away. Alva, she declared, needed no friends while her ‘big sister’ was around. ‘I was the youngest, but they always treated me like I was the oldest,’ she remembered.18


This possessiveness resulted in a massive showdown – by Garbo standards – when she learned that a friend, Eva Blomgren, had been seeing Alva behind her back, as well as other friends of hers. Not only this, Eva had beaten her to meeting another of her idols, a popular actor-singer named Dalqvist. On 27 July, an irate Greta dashed off an imperious letter to the hapless Eva, part of which read:




One thing you must tell me. How did you meet Dalqvist? The ideas I have are such that I think it will be better for you if you do explain. One other thing I have to say. If you and I are to continue as friends, you must keep away from my girlfriends as I did from yours … I did not mind your going out with Alva, but I realised that you intended to do the same with all my acquaintances. Eva, I am arrogant and impatient by nature, and I don’t like girls who do what you have done. If you hadn’t written [to me first], I should never have made the first move toward reconciliation. And then you’re writing to Alva. Frankly, I think you’re making yourself ridiculous. If you hadn’t done that, perhaps my letter would have been more friendly … If this letter offends you, then you don’t need to write to me again. If it doesn’t, and you promise to behave as a friend, then I shall be glad to hear from you again.19





Like Marlene Dietrich (and speaking from experience as her confidante), later in life Garbo would go to inordinate lengths to ensure that her closest friends never got to know about each other, so paranoid was she that they might meet up or communicate and ‘swap notes’. There is also some evidence that the relationship between Greta and Eva may have progressed beyond the platonic, that this is why Greta had such a hold over her. In 2005, to honour Garbo’s centenary, some of her private letters and telegrams were made public, including those to lovers of both sexes. Though these did not include missives to Eva Blomgren, references were made by the author to a ‘lovers’ tiff’, detailed in letters which were believed to be in the possession of Garbo’s surviving family.


There is no record of Eva’s reply to Greta’s letter, but she must have apologised for her ‘indiscretion’ as Greta wrote to her again on 7 August, though she had by no means finished ticking her off:




Well, so you promise to mend your ways. Then all can be as before, provided I have no cause to complain again. I only do that when you behave like a child or make yourself ridiculous, that is, when I have reason to, not otherwise. But we can talk about that when we meet.20





Just days after admonishing Eva, Greta took her first steps towards venturing out into the real world, so to speak. Alva was now employed as a stenographer for an insurance company, and had friends who worked at the Paul Urbanus Bergstrom department store, more popularly known as PUB – the biggest in Sweden and the equivalent of today’s Harrods or Macy’s. This was situated in the Hotorget Placa, in the centre of Stockholm. The store had several vacancies, and citing Alva as referee, Greta applied for a job. On 26 July, she began her apprenticeship in the store’s packing department on a more than modest salary of 125 kroner a month – more money than she had ever seen in her life. She worked here until the end of November, when she was promoted to sales assistant in Ladies’ Coats & Hats. With the promotion came an increase in salary: three-quarters of her earnings were handed over to Anna, while the rest went on Greta’s twin passions – chocolate, and visiting the cinema and theatre.


Today, the PUB store remains a shrine for devotees who visit the city of her birth and take in one of the ‘Garbo’s Stockholm’ tours. In the display case in the third-floor millinery department are photographs of her taken at the time, along with copies of her employment record, and her signature at the bottom of her leaving document. Working for PUB did not diminish her aspirations of becoming an actress, though. ‘Can you imagine such a thing – me, a shopgirl?’ she wrote in her 7 August letter to Eva Blomgren, ‘But don’t worry. I haven’t given up on thoughts of the stage because of this. I’m just as keen as ever!’


Only days after receiving this, Eva was in hot water again. Since starting at PUB, Greta had insisted that her friend be waiting outside the store each evening at six, on the dot, to walk her home. When Eva complained – as much as she dared protest – Greta told her to get a job at the store, mindless of the fact that there were no vacancies. Next, the poor girl received a ticking off for going on holiday with her parents, without asking her permission:




I thought you were going to come back this month and begin at Bergstroms, so that we could go to work and come back together, to say nothing of the fun we would have there every day … I think you should come home soon, Eva. Why do you want to be in the country? Tell your mother you want to go home and work. Write when you’re coming and I’ll ring you up.21





Greta’s dream of stardom appeared to take a small step towards fruition when, in January 1921, she was invited to model for PUB’s spring catalogue. This was an important publication – not only was it handed to customers visiting the store, but 50,000 copies were dispatched to mail order clients all over Sweden. Greta modelled five hats, each of which was given a name: Vera, Margit, Vanja, Edit, and Olga. The prices ranged from 4.75 kroner (for the woman in the street) to 18 kroner (for the elegant society lady). She by far resembles the latter in the photographs, and, although still a teenager, looks every inch a woman in her early twenties.22


How much Greta was paid – if anything – for her first professional appearance in front of a camera is not known. The fact that she proved a natural, preening and posturing like the most sophisticated of movie stars, ensured her a more prominent position in PUB’s summer catalogue. Again she modelled hats, this time from the store’s more expensive (10–26 kroner) range, with the then high-class monikers Jane, Ethel, Helny, Solveig, and Clary.


‘I was really only interested in selling hats,’ she later enthused, when asked why she had never sought promotion, ‘I never seemed to have to think how to treat the individual whims of each customer. How I envied and admired the actresses among my customers!’23


It was almost certainly one of those customers who informed Greta that Mauritz Stiller, one of Sweden’s most eminent film directors, was currently on the lookout for fresh new talent. She had seemingly forgotten about making that return trip to the Nordisk Studios, and though at the time she regarded Stiller as no more important than any other, she was intent on meeting him. His custom-built Kissell Kar, painted buttercup yellow, was a familiar sight on the streets of Stockholm, so Greta had no difficulty in recognising it. Stiller was such a madcap driver that, as soon as other drivers saw him speeding towards them in his ‘Yellow Peril’ they would pull over until he had roared past. He was returning home from the studio one evening and had only just managed to pull up outside the gates to his house when Greta stepped out of the shadows and strode in front of the car. Politely, she requested an audition. Not so politely – still shaking after watching her almost get knocked over – Stiller suggested that she go home, and seek him out again once she was a little older and more experienced. She is said not to have taken the rebuff very well, though it was an ‘oversight’ on Stiller’s part which she was to forgive, for he would soon become the most important figure in her life.


By all accounts, Greta Gustaffson was a competent salesgirl, one who got along well with colleagues and customers alike. The latter, even the rude ones, were treated with the utmost reverence because there was always the chance that they were from the movie or theatre world. Often, Greta was asked to model a particular hat, and if it looked good on her, the client frequently purchased it without even trying it on.


An important client was John Wilhelm Brunius (1884–1937), the actor-director-scriptwriter who ran the Skandia Film Company. When Greta first saw him, Brunius was casting extras for his new production, En Lyckoriddare (Soldier Of Fortune), which tells the story of the seventeenth-century Swedish poet and adventurer, Lars Wivallius, portrayed by heart-throb actor Gösta Ekman. When Greta informed him that she could not discuss ‘business’ at work – it was strictly against the PUB rules to ‘moonlight’ in any way – Brunius asked her out. Greta, probably assuming that she might be expected to hop on to the casting couch, took along Alva for ‘protection’, while the director, his intentions never less than honourable, brought his actress wife, Pauline. Both Gustaffson girls were hired for the film: Alva is listed on the roster as ‘a servant girl’, while Greta appears as ‘a virgin’.


No print survives of En Lyckoriddare, and its successor, Karlekens ogon (Scarlet Angel), of which virtually nothing is known, appears to have suffered the same fate. Ironically, in 1934 when Brunius’s ‘discovery’ had become the world’s most feted female movie star, he made False Greta, featuring Karin Albihn as ‘Greta Gustafsson, Typist’, and Adolph Jahr as her businessman lover, a part clearly based on Max Gumpel, of whom more later.


News of Greta’s movie debut was kept from her employer until now, but when she learned that Paul U Bergstrom had commissioned a seven-minute short to advertise his store, she risked her job to ensure that he was made aware of her acting abilities. The director was Ragnar Lasse Ring (1882–1956), a former cavalry officer and novelist, famed throughout Sweden for his frequently offbeat promotional films.


The whole point of Herr Och Fru Stockholm (How Not To Wear Clothes) is confusing, particularly as it was devised to attract customers to the PUB store and not drive them away! Bergstrom’s budget permitted Ring to bring in one professional actress, Olga Andersson – one of Greta’s hats had been named in her honour – but Ring still needed someone to play the fashion mannequin, preferably a salesgirl with no acting experience so that she would look like ‘just another customer trying on clothes’. While Bergstrom was shortlisting employees, Greta found out where Ring lived and, as had happened with Mauritz Stiller, waylaid him outside his home during her lunch break. This time her cheek paid off and she was offered the part, though the other actor in the film, Ragnar Widestedt, tried to talk Ring out of hiring her. Later she recalled how Widestedt had walked up to the director and said, ‘You’re not intending to have that fat girl in the film, are you? She won’t fit on the screen!’ Some years later, when Greta had become Garbo, the two bumped into each other at a reception, and when Widestedt made as if to hug her she walked away, saying, ‘No, thank you. The last time we met you called me fat!’


How Not To Wear Clothes is a comic mishmash which makes little sense. In her 100-second PUB changing-room sequence, Greta has great fun sending herself up. She appears wearing high-button-up shoes, an oversized three-quarter-length coat with gingham cuffs and matching cap, and a baggy gingham skirt. Smiling, she poses with her back to the mirror, unbuttons the coat, and this materialises into a riding habit.24


The production was screened, between features, in cinemas all over Sweden. Though no critical review survives, Ragnar Lasse Ring was suitably impressed – and amorously interested – to use Greta for at least one more publicity short. Konsum Stockholm Promo (Our Daily Bread) advertised a local bakery, and offered her another comedy role. In the first scene she and three other well-dressed girls sit at a table in the roof garden of Stockholm’s Strand Hotel, gorging on cakes, with Greta stuffing so much food into her mouth that it drops back on to her plate. It was not a cinematic moment upon which she would reflect with pride, though it gave her the opportunity to meet Lars Hanson who within a few years would figure very prominently in her life. He plays the handsome young man who sits at a nearby table, blowing smoke down his nostrils, with his back to the scene and therefore oblivious to the gluttony taking place. The second segment of the film sees the same girls taking a picnic on an island. Greta and two of them frolic at the water’s edge, while the fourth girl prepares the food and summons them to eat. Again, she spits and splutters as she tries to cram a large biscuit into her mouth, before washing it down with fruit juice – leaving the spoon in the glass so that it gets stuck up her nose!25


Another important man entered Greta’s life at this time. Max Gumpel (1890–1965) was a former swimmer and waterpolo player who had won several medals representing Sweden in the 1908, 1912 and 1920 Summer Olympics. They first met on the set of How Not To Dress when his seven-year-old nephew, Erick Froander, had played Greta’s brother. A big, strapping man and now a wealthy industrialist, Gumpel met Garbo again at the PUB store when he dropped in to pick up a hat for a friend. The two got along, Greta spoke to him of her aspirations, and they began dating. Eventually, he invited her to his plush apartment on Drottning Street, where she experienced the finer aspects of society dining: fingerbowls and artichokes, neither of which she had seen before. If they did enjoy a physical relationship, Gumpel could have been prosecuted for having sex with a minor, though, like Kalle Pedersen, he may not have been aware of her age.26


Max Gumpel showed Greta a side of life alien to her until now. At home, ‘going to the bathroom’ meant descending several flights of steep steps, then a trudge across a dark, smelly courtyard to the row of toilets which stank to high heaven in summer, and whose walls were thick with ice in winter; where bathing meant climbing into the tin tub, usually after everyone else, which had to be filled from the copper in the corner then dragged outside and emptied down the grate. In contrast, Gumpel’s apartment had gas mantles, the bathroom had brass fittings and a tub so large that she could get lost in it. ‘He filled the tub up and had a kind of liquid soap that made bubbles on top of the water,’ Greta told a friend, ‘I’ve never experienced anything so nice!’


Gumpel also bought her her first jewellery, a diamond ring which she described as: ‘As beautiful as a diamond in the English royal crown.’ Whether she interpreted this as some sort of marriage proposal is not known. Their affair ended as quickly as it had begun – though they would remain friends for life – and he returned to his girlfriend, whom he married the following year. Greta kept the ring.27


During her relationship with Gumpel, Greta’s other friendships had been cast aside. Now, with no one to fuss over her and succumb to her every whim, she returned to former stooge Eva Blomgrem and on 15 August dashed off another pleading, self-absorbed missive: ‘They [at PUB] look at me with astonishment because I’m only fifteen. If you were to come, I’ll bet they’ll all ask you if it’s true. Eva, you and I must go out and have fun together, otherwise I’ll die!’28


Yet there was really only one thing on Greta’s mind, as she concluded, ‘Whenever I’m left to myself, I long so dreadfully for the theatre. Everything I want is there!’ Eva did not heed the call-to-arms, and two weeks later Greta left Stockholm for what may have been her first proper holiday, a week-long stay in Nykroppa, in Värmland County. The trip was financed by Max Gumpel, by way of a parting gift, along with a second diamond ring, though it is not known if he accompanied her there. This time, the tone of her letter to Eva, the friend she assumed she could pick up and discard at will like an item of clothing, was even more condescending:




Eva, child. To be honest, I haven’t thought of you – for the simple reason that I don’t think of anything. I’m quite satisfied to be here, and don’t long to be back … I wanted to get to a place where there weren’t so many people, so that I could rest. I have had my wish very well fulfilled in that most of the company I provide myself!





Was the melancholia and neurasthenia most associated with Garbo’s later years and her quest for solitude already starting to take over at just fifteen? Or was she merely wishing to grab attention by feigning profound happiness one moment, self-pity the next? Neither was she prepared to allow any of her ‘intimates’ fulfilment in their own lives until her personal goals had been achieved.


Inasmuch as she had admonished Eva for befriending her sister, so Eva was now instructed to ‘save the situation’ when she learned that her brother Sven, fresh out of military service, was courting a local girl from the bakery where he worked – not only this, but there were rumours of wedding bells. Sven belonged to her, not some floozie who would only lead him astray, as had happened with the mother of his son. In this instance ‘saving the situation’ meant that Eva would be expected to seduce Sven, and have sex with him – moreover, that his girlfriend would have to catch them having sex. Eva may have been sufficiently obsessed with Greta to do anything to please her, but drew the line at this.
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Greta had stalked Kalle Pedersen, Mauritz Stiller, and Ragnar Lasse Ring.29 Now, the tables were turned on her when, in July 1922, a man followed her from Blekingegaten one evening while she was on her way home from work. He made as if to approach her when she paused to look in a bookshop window, and when she entered the store to evade him, followed her inside. Subsequently she fled the building and ran all the way home. She had recently been promoted to junior sales assistant in the dresses department and the next morning the same man walked in, flanked by two young women – actresses Gucken Cederborg and Tyra Ryman – and introduced himself as Erik Arthur Petschler (1881–1945). Petschler was a well-known (although not by Greta) director of slapstick comedies, popularly nicknamed ‘The Swedish Mack Sennett’, and he offered her a movie contract on the spot. They met the same evening, and Petschler informed her that he was producing a comedy, Luffar-Petter (Peter The Tramp), and would like her to make a screen-test. Later he claimed that he had also asked her to recite a piece of her choice on the sales floor – highly unlikely, given Paul U Bergstrom’s strict ruling against such things.30 The test took place later in the week, Greta passed, and the day after receiving this news – 22 July – she handed in her notice. Her handwritten reason for leaving, scribbled in PUB’s employment ledger, was, ‘Left at own request to make movies.’


But Greta could have been cutting off her nose to spite her face. Her salary at PUB had risen to 180 kroner a month, while Petschler paid her just 50 kroner for her five days’ work on the film, with no guarantee that her movie career would progress any further, certainly not with him.


Luffar-Petter is a delightful, low-budget piece of whimsy which almost certainly would have disappeared without trace, if not for it being the first film to showcase the budding talents of Sweden’s – and later Hollywood’s – most famous femme fatale. Also appearing in the production were Petschler himself in the title role, and Tyra Ryman and Gucken Cederborg, the actresses who had accompanied him to the PUB store.


Petschler had wanted to shoot the film in Stockholm itself, to cut down on costs and complete the project as quickly as possible. Bathing, however, was not permitted within the city boundaries, so the locations were filmed at Dalaro, an hour’s journey from the city by steamer. Here, Petschler said, while the other actors were reluctant to go near the water for fear of catching colds, Greta would not keep out of it. He recalled a sudden rainstorm, where everyone but she and Tyra Ryman dashed for cover: ‘As we others crouched unhappily under our chance shelter, Greta and Tyra in their bathing-dresses improvised a wild Indian dance in the pouring rain. It was a stimulating sight for the gods.’31


The most historically enduring section of this nonsensical production comes when Greta and her on-screen sisters are enrolled at a gymnastics academy – an opportunity for the trio to strut and stretch in black shorts and vests and, later in the film, skimpy (for the day) swimsuits. The original running time is listed as seventy-five minutes, though surviving prints run to around half this length. It does have its moments, though when watching it today, one wonders what Petschler actually saw in this tall and ungainly, rather plain-looking girl with her thick thighs and waist, unkempt hair and protruding front teeth. She was certainly not femme fatale material at this stage, though Petschler must have recognised some potential to suggest that she audition for the prestigious Royal Dramatic Academy:




She was a very determined girl and very willing and anxious to please. She was a bit shy and uneasy at the beginning, which is natural, but when we started shooting she really came to life. She had had no training … and her movements were quite awkward, but I think she showed signs of having a knack for acting. At least she had the desire, which is not the least important thing.32





The government-funded Kungliga Dramatiska Teater, to give it the official title, had been founded by King Gustavus III in 1787. Its future alumni would include Ingrid Bergman, Bibi Andersson, Max von Sydow, Signe Hasso, and acclaimed film director Alf Sjöberg – all of whom, with the exception of Bergman, would be vastly overshadowed by Garbo. Petschler introduced Greta to the Academy’s elderly former director, Frans Enwall, retired through ill-health and working as a part-time private coach but still carrying some weight with the Academy. This enabled her name to be added to that year’s auditions list, which had just closed, with the auditions scheduled to begin taking place on 22 August. Enwall declared that she needed a major overhaul if she was expecting to make the grade as an actress: her stance was clumsy, her accent guttural and unrefined, she hardly ever brushed her hair, she dressed sloppily – and of course, there were those sticking-out teeth. He took Greta under his wing, and coached her until his failing health forced him to stop working altogether – he died the following year and his protégée was assigned to the tutelage of his drama teacher daughter Signe, who later observed:




The fact that her knowledge of [this] drama wasn’t wide didn’t matter. What really counts in an actress is contact with real, everyday life and an ability to feel and understand it. In that sense, Greta was probably extremely well-equipped. She was very mature for her age.33





Entrance for a maximum three-year scholarship with the Academy was by way of a gruelling audition comprising three five-minute scenes chosen by the student. Out of 300 applicants listed for 1922, only ten were accepted. The auditorium where these tests took place was vast, cold and draughty, and empty save for the long table accommodating the twenty stone-faced judges. Greta, wearing Max Gumpel’s diamond ring for luck, would have backed out at the last minute, had it not been for her brother Sven, who insisted on accompanying her. ‘All I could see was that black pit, that black open space,’ she recalled, ‘I said my piece, then I just ran off. I forgot to say goodbye.’34


The students were auditioned in alphabetical order, therefore Greta did not have to wait too long before her name was called. Signe Enwall had prepared selections from Vittorien Sardou’s Madame Sans-Géne, Selma Lagerlöf’s The Fledgling, and Ibsen’s Lady From The Sea. She finished the first piece to a glacial silence, and was about to continue when the usher was instructed to call for the next student. Convinced she had failed, such was Greta’s hurry to get away that she forgot her obligatory curtsey to the jury – in itself sufficient for them to fail her. Three days later, she received notification informing her otherwise, and that her first class would begin on 18 September – her seventeenth birthday. Her joy was ecstatic: ‘Oh God, I was happy! I almost died! Even now, I can hardly breathe when I remember. For now, pretty soon I knew I was to be a real actress!’


The rules of the Academy were rigid. First-year students were on probation and were expected to devote themselves wholeheartedly to their work, which comprised an eight-hour day broken into segments: drama and theatre history, deportment, vocal projection, elocution, make-up, gesture, dance, fencing, personality development, physical training and posture. Most evenings, they and the next-year students put on in-house productions, which left little time for socialising – which in any case was discouraged, particularly any forming of relationships with members of the opposite sex. Suffice to say, discreet liaisons among the students were commonplace and, as each student was paired up with another of the same sex so that they could bounce ideas off each other, homosexual relationships were inevitably formed. During their second year, students were officially added to the roster, paid a monthly stipend of around 150 kroner, and allowed to accept bit-parts in productions extant of the Academy. Some were loaned out to the film studios. By the time they had completed their third and final year, the ones who had made it thus far were permitted to call themselves legitimate thespians.


Greta, as a probationary student, received no fee. However, her tuition was free, so there was no strain on the Gustaffson family budget: Sven and Alma were bringing in decent wages, and Anna had money set aside from the excess board and lodgings which Greta had been handing over while working at PUB. During her few months at the Academy she preceded the later American exponents of Stanislavsky (Dean, Brando, Clift) in that she very quickly developed a tendency towards indolence, arrogance and rebelliousness, while never losing sight of her essential craft. Film critic Alexander Walker observed, ‘To read some of Stanislavsky’s manuals on the art of acting after seeing a Garbo film is to find the nature of the performance already analysed, which is not to suggest Garbo consciously employed The Method. It was hers by instinct: Academy training only sharpened it.’35


If anything, Greta’s off-the-wall behaviour while working, now as later, reflected the part she was rehearsing or playing, which was of course pure Method. If the part called for her to be miserable, she took it out on everyone else until she had left the platform or studio. When studying a comic role, she was giddy towards the point of distracting the whole class with her pranks and jokes. During her first year (billed as Greta Gustavson) she played a whore in a local repertory group’s production of Schnitzler’s Farewell Supper, a lady’s maid in J. M. Barrie’s The Admiral Crichton, and Hermione in Shakespeare’s A Winter’s Tale. Her favourite roles were the male parts in the Russian classics. ‘Though I do not like to see men dressed as women, there is something especially thrilling about seeing a woman dressed as a man,’ she said.36


Greta made few friends at the Academy – she was said to have been too moody for anyone to wish to spend more time with her than they had to. She rejected the advances of Holger Lowenadler, a student who claimed he had been enchanted not so much by her physical attributes as by her ‘pompous mannerisms and beauty of voice’. A young banker named Gösta Kyhlberg, dissatisfied with the way she dressed, eschewed the usual flowers and presented her with a lurid green dress to wear on their next date. Greta obliged, wore it for a publicity photograph, then dyed it black. As for the second date, this never happened. At this time, Greta was more interested in relationships with women: Mona Mårtenson (1902–56) was a pretty, dark-haired student three years her senior; and Vera Schmiterlow (1904–87) had already appeared in her first film, and a few years later became a sizeable star in Germany. She and Greta were hired for a photographic assignment advertising the latest Lancia car, talking turns to pose behind the wheel, though neither could drive yet. Vera recalled how, as neither of them had a bathroom at home, they would make weekly visits to Sturebadet, the public baths in Stockholm’s city centre, at the time something of a Mecca for lesbian and gay encounters, much like the later bath-houses in Budapest and Los Angeles.37


Greta’s most profound liaison at this time was with Mimi Pollak (1903–99), a plain-looking Jewish girl from Hammarom in Värmland. As had happened with Eva Blomgren, Greta was the dominant partner in their relationship. They remained close for sixty years, exchanging a long series of letters, telegrams and cards. Some of these, sent by Greta would be auctioned in 1993, while Mimi’s correspondence was made public to commemorate Garbo’s centenary in 2005. In most of these, the two women scarcely conceal the fact that they were once an item – while other Garbo letters were allegedly considered so revealing by her surviving relatives, desperate that her bisexuality should remain buried in the annals of time, that they have never been made public. The Academy class photograph, taken in October 1922, says it all: while the other students smile and face the camera, Greta looks only at Mimi, and they are holding hands. In years to come, this segment of the photograph would be clipped and appear in newspaper articles and magazines, with no indication that it had once formed part of a larger shot featuring ten other people.38


Greta’s nickname for Mimi was ‘Mimosa’, while Mimi called her ‘Gurra’, short for Gustav. ‘The letter from you has aroused a storming of longing within me,’ Greta responded to an early missive, when they had not seen each other for a while. Another billet-doux reads: ‘I keep thinking of you, Mimosa, and thinking that I will meet you any second out in the corridor!’ Later, when her fame had forced them to part, she agonised, ‘I dream of seeing you and discovering whether you still care as much about your old bachelor. I love you, little Mimosa!’ And when Mimi entered into a ‘lavender’ marriage, and wrote that this was going well and she was pregnant, the message was even more poignant, proof that they had enjoyed a love affair: ‘We cannot help our nature, as God created it. But I have always thought that you and I belonged together.’


Mimi Pollak may well have been the first to coin the phrase ‘Garbo-esque’, when later describing her lover. Greta, she recalled, always wore black for dramatic effect. Her favourite item of apparel was an ankle-length, man’s black velvet cloak whose purpose was two-fold: when visiting other theatrical productions using her gratis Academy pass, the cloak added to her air of sophistication and imperiousness – but also covered the threadbare clothes she had on underneath. And Greta, who during her first weeks at the Academy never stopped talking about her family and upbringing, very soon refused to acknowledge that she had a family. The reason for this, Mimi believed, was that she did not want the other students – many from well-to-do-backgrounds – to know how poor hers had once been. Indeed, to throw them off the scent, she made a point of always wearing Max Gumpel’s diamond ring.39


Greta was similarly embarrassed about her lack of education and the fact that she had left school early, as her voice coach, Karl Nygren, revealed:




In the classroom she was very quiet. Sometimes I wished she would show more initiative. I remember that now and again she seemed very depressed and troubled. She often blushed, especially when we were discussing things that she wasn’t acquainted with. I think that this was probably due to the fact that her formal education had been meagre, and she was acutely conscious of that … But when I would meet her by chance in the halls or the theatre she was not at all bashful.40





Mimi Pollak remembered Greta’s fanaticism for walking – not just to save on cab fares, but because of her intense shyness, terrified should the driver suddenly attempt to have a conversation with her. Often, she said, she was so paranoid about being out in the street that a friend had to be with her, whether they wanted to be with her or not. Yet she would have no problem stopping to chat with a beggar, and would always drop a few coins into his hat. On 22 December, Greta travelled with Mimi to Hammaro, where they spent the festive season with Mimi’s parents – Greta’s first Christmas away from home. The friends participated in a concert at Mimi’s former high school, with Greta led to believe this would be just another run-of-the-mill end-of-term show. In fact, it was the cultural event of the Hammaro winter season. Such was her stage fright that she had to be virtually carried on to the platform. What she sang or recited is not on record – only that she was paid 100 kroner for doing so. They returned to Stockholm on Boxing Day, where the premiere of Luffar-Petter took place at the Odeon Cinema. The only half-decent review came from Swing magazine, which observed by way of a backhanded compliment:




Though American bathing beauties may be lovelier and more subtle, our Swedish ones have more freshness and charm … Greta Gustafsson may become a Swedish movie star – but only because of her Anglo-Saxon appearance.41





Little did they know… 
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3 ‘I was born…’: Garbo interview (unedited), Ruth Biery, 31 December 1927.
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22 Hatter For Dammer Och Flickor, PUB Catalogue, March 1921, p.109.


23 ‘I was really…’: Ake Sundborg, ‘That Gustafsson Girl’, Photoplay, April–May 1930.


24 Though Garbo appeared in the Brunius films before the PUB short, this was the first to be released.


25 Paris, ibid., p.28, footnote. There may have been a short, English title, From Top to Toe, made to celebrate PUB’s 40th anniversary. This had Greta ‘as one of the daughters in the story of a family whose house burned down and then who visit PUB to replace their lost clothing’.
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39 Mimi Pollak, Swedish TV interview, 1993.
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CHAPTER TWO


GARBO & STILLER: BEAUTY & THE BEAST







‘I have to thank Mauritz Stiller for everything in this world.’





He became Garbo’s mentor, the man responsible for introducing her to the world. Without him, she may never have left Sweden. He badgered her into shape and taught her all she knew: about acting, how to dress, how to speak and think, who to talk to and who to ignore, about being a woman – though he was never sexually interested in women. At times cruel and abrupt, he spared little thought for her feelings. If he felt that she was doing something wrong, he would tell her so – often publicly, in a rant peppered with obscenities. He rarely allowed her an opinion of her own. She in turns revered and loathed him, yet she would mourn his early death for the rest of her life.


Garbo’s Svengali was born Moshe Stiller, of Russian-Polish ancestry, the fourth of six children, in Helsinki, Finland, on 17 July 1883. When he was four his father died, and shortly afterwards his mother committed suicide: subsequently he was raised by family friends, the Katzmans, who ran a haberdashery business and whose name he may have used at times, though it was never legally changed from Stiller. As a child, Stiller attended a traditional Hebrew school, where he excelled at every subject, most especially languages – he spoke fluent Russian, German, Swedish and Polish – and learned to play the violin to virtuoso standard. Upon leaving, however, instead of finding a well-paid job, he joined several struggling drama groups. Then in 1904, shortly after his twenty-first birthday and in the wake of Finland’s nationalist uprisings, he received his call-up papers. At this time, the country was an autonomous Grand Duchy of Russia. A Conscientious Objector and vociferous opponent of Tsar Nicholas II, Stiller refused to attend the Army training base, and the Russian Military Police apprehended him at the theatre where he was playing Tybalt in Romeo and Juliet. Subsequently dispatched to St Petersburg, he was found guilty of desertion and sentenced to six months hard labour.


Exactly how Stiller had escaped from internment and obtained a fake passport is not known – rumours suggest he may have bribed his guard and government official who obtained the document. However he did it, by the end of the year he was living in Sweden, having been stripped of his Russian nationality. He became a Swedish citizen in 1920. Never a well man and already in the early stages of tuberculosis, Stiller settled in one of the poorer districts of Stockholm, where initially he worked on the stage while posing as an exiled German film director. His sterling knowledge of his subject and his flawless command of the language enabled him to get away with this. Gregarious and outgoing, dressed in spivvish suits, pastel-coloured waistcoats, ankle-length fur coats when it was cold and wearing more jewellery than most women, he created an impression wherever he went, and soon wheedled his way into the then developing Swedish movie colony, acting in shorts and writing scripts. By 1912, Stiller was producing and directing his own films – few yet worthy of note but nevertheless moving in the right direction.


For Stiller, international acclaim came with two films: Thomas Graal’s Best Film (1917) and its sequel, Thomas Graal’s First Child (1918), light-hearted comedies where the object of fun is the Swedish film industry itself, and said to have inspired Hollywood’s finest, Ernst Lubitsch, who later triumphed with Garbo. Appearing in both films, and in Stiller’s first major production, Tradgardmastaren (1912) was Victor Sjöström (1879–1960), regarded as ‘The Father of Swedish Film’ and the man who most inspired Ingmar Bergman. Born in Värmland, Sjöström emigrated to New York with his family when one year old, but later returned to Sweden and began his film career in 1917, enjoying tremendous success behind and in front of the camera. He and Greta became good friends, but though always outwardly civil towards Stiller, his greatest rival, he secretly despised him because of the disdainful way he treated most of those around him. Sadly, many of Stiller’s and Sjöström’s films (though not the best ones) would be lost in a fire which ravaged the Svensk Filmindustri archives a few years later.


Stiller’s mannerisms were effete, and many who worked with him referred to him as ‘bitchy’. He had never been in the closet, and his sexuality posed few problems in Sweden, but an event of 1 January 1923 – had this been made public at the time – would almost certainly have scuppered his career. Three years earlier he had begun a volatile relationship with Axel Esbensen, the 42-year-old set designer who worked on many of his films. On New Year’s Eve, Esbensen was Stiller’s date for the annual Svensk Filmindustri dinner. The pair had a massive row – allegedly because Stiller had told Esbensen that it was over between them – Esbensen had returned home and swallowed a fatal overdose of sleeping pills. Stiller had reputedly shrugged his shoulders and only days later taken up with another team regular, actor Axel Nilsson. His callousness tarnished his reputation so far as his Scandinavian colleagues were concerned. Most of them continued working with him for the prestige this brought, but few of them liked him.


Garbo’s friend, secretary and subsequent lover Sven Hugo Borg recalled:




Stiller was ugly, almost hideous in physical appearance. His body was ungainly, his features heavy, lined, gnome-like. His feet were so enormous as to be almost deformed, and his hands huge, prehensile paws, fitted for the plough. Yet beneath this repellent exterior was hidden a soul both beautiful and artistic.42





Stiller’s sexuality is evident in some of his films, notably Vingarne (The Wings, 1916) – lost save for a few stills – a tragedy based on the novel by Herman Bang and remade in 1924 by Carl Dreyer as Mikael. One of the first films to deal with an openly gay issue, this tells of a sculptor’s love for his muse, the beautiful Mikael, an opportunist who feigns affection for remuneration, then latches on to a wealthy woman while the sculptor, bereft, wanders out into a storm and dies. One reviewer defined it as, ‘Stiller’s subtextual coming-out … grand and worthy, albeit tragic, next to the sordid and inept obsessions of a heterosexual audience.’43


The star of the film was Lars Hanson (1886–1965), the former Academy actor who had blown smoke down his nostrils in Our Daily Bread. Garbo regarded Hanson as a lucky omen because he shared a birthday (26 July) with her brother, Sven. He had begun his stage career playing Hamlet in Helsinki and it was here, in 1915, that he met Mauritz Stiller, safely visiting the city on vacation now that Finland was no longer under Russian rule. Stiller brought him back to Sweden and offered him his first film role in Dolken (1915), and for a time they were lovers – as would happen with Garbo, the beautiful blond, famed for his exquisite profile and porcelain hands, was dominated by the unattractive, frequently ruthless Svengali.


Like many gay or bisexual actors, Larson enjoyed a happy lavender marriage from 1922 until his death, with Karin Molander, the daughter of Gustav, the director of the Academy: they met while appearing in Stiller’s satirical comedy, Erotikon. Phenomenally successful in silent films, his stumbling block when the talkies arrived, despite having a voice that was just as sexy as the rest of him, was his almost incomprehensible Swedish accent. It was for Larson – along with Axel Nilsson still keeping Stiller’s bed warm at night – that the director had optioned Selma Lagerlöf’s best-selling novel, Gösta Berlings Saga.


The story, controversial for its day, tells of a young priest, defrocked on account of his alcoholism, and the effect this has on the new life he chooses for himself. Lagerlöf (1859–1940), whose The Fledgling had formed part of Greta’s audition for the Academy, was (in 1909) the first female writer to be awarded the Nobel Prize in Literature. Stiller and Victor Sjöström had filmed several of her short stories, but Gösta Berlings Saga was her first novel, which she had completed while working as a teacher in her native Värmland. Some years later, the New York theatre critic Bosley Crowther baptised her ‘The Bard Of Sweden’.


Stiller had cast the major characters in the film and Greta was one of several students sent by the Academy to be interviewed for the second female leads and bit-parts, with a view to being shortlisted for audition, and then sent for screen-tests – provided they came up to his excessively high standards.


When the director met her properly for the first time, he had probably forgotten the occasion when she almost ended up under the front of his car. Garbo recalled arriving at his house at the appointed time, and being made to wait for two hours before he turned up, striding into the room with his huge wolfhound bounding in after him. She is said to have been initially terrified of him. Stiller was well over six feet tall, with gaunt features and a shock of unruly iron-grey hair. What frightened her the most about him, she said, was the way that he stared menacingly right into her eyes – the fact that he only had one eye did not help her feel any more comfortable in his company. During the interview, Stiller questioned her about her background and experience, then asked her to remove her coat and hat so that he could better study her figure and profile. After leaving her contact details, she was courteously dismissed. ‘Then I knew that it was all over,’ she recalled. ‘When they’re not interested they always ask your telephone number. So I put on my hat and coat and went out. I just didn’t think any more about it.’44


Several weeks passed. Stiller drew up a shortlist of interviewees for the bit-parts, and just two major parts remained to be cast: the Countesses Ebba and Elizabeth Dohna, with whom Gösta Berling falls in love during the course of the film. Gustav Molander was contacted once more – this time Stiller asked for his two prettiest actors, only to dismiss them on sight for their lack of charisma. He settled on Mona Mårtenson for the part of Ebba after seeing her in an Academy production of The Merchant of Venice. It was either she or Mollander who recommended Greta – though both Carl Brisson and Mimi Pollak later claimed the honour.


This time when Greta arrived at Stiller’s house she was welcomed by his lover, Axel Nilsson, who had prepared lunch and who made her feel more at ease than she might otherwise have been. As before, Stiller arrived late with his dog in tow and half-frightened her to death by grabbing hold of her, spinning her around and around and exclaiming, ‘My dear Miss Gustafsson, you are a little too fat, I believe! Axel, just look at those eyelashes! My dear lady, you’ll have to lose twenty pounds if you’re going to play the role I contemplate for you!’45


Vera Schmiterlow recalled how Greta had gone about this:




Greta had a beautiful body, but was rather plump and Stiller had told her to slim. There was a shower-bath at the theatre school and after everybody had left, Greta stayed on, stretched out naked on the floor taking a hot shower. Day after day she would be lying on her stomach and the water spouting on her back as part of her slimming. She wanted to become figure-perfect in Stiller’s eyes as quickly as possible. As her legs were also too fat she bandaged them tightly each night, especially around the ankles, to make them thin … She adored Stiller, but as far as I know there was never anything between them. Everyone knew that Stiller had a different kind of interest. He saw Greta as some beautiful raw material for him to shape into form. Greta accepted this wholeheartedly.46





While waiting for Stiller to make his final decision, Greta and Mimi Pollak attended a supper party at Stockholm’s Grand Hotel, in honour of the distinguished Norwegian actor, Halvdan Christensen, who had just played a season at the Academy. Here, the friends put on an impromptu cabaret during which Greta, her confidence boosted by a surfeit of champagne, climbed onto a table and sang in her best contralto a vulgar version of a song from the musical comedy, The Girl From Hagalund. Far from being shocked, the thespian audience gave her a rousing ovation, though with the exception of the few snatches in her films, few would ever hear Garbo sing again.47


It was now that Kalle Pedersen re-entered Greta’s life, albeit briefly. He was in the audience at the Academy when she was playing a harlot in an unspecified play. After the performance, he met her backstage and asked her out. Though with Mimi Pollak, she was still interested in men. Pedersen, however, was expecting too much. The date turned out to be dinner in his suite at the Strand Hotel, and he was clearly expecting her to be dessert. Greta played along with him, eating only the best food and quaffing expensive liqueurs. Then, while Pedersen was in the bathroom, she quietly slipped out of the room.


In June, Garbo was contacted by Stiller, and introduced to his team. The scriptwriter Ragnar Hyltén-Cavallius (1885–1970) was hugely respected in Sweden, and took an instant dislike to the new protégée, dismissing her as ‘a lowly farm girl’. The cameraman, Julius Jaenzon (1885–1961), who had been collaborating with the trio of Stiller, Sjöström and Lagerlöf for years, was of the same opinion. Selma Lagerlöf was enthusiastic, but only because she, Greta and Mimi Pollak were members of Stockholm’s exclusive lesbian ‘sewing circle’. Artistic director Vilhelm Bryde (1888–1974) joked that she would prove an on-set liability because she was so big and clumsy, she would keep walking into the sets and demolishing them!


In Greta’s defence, Stiller is quoted as having told these detractors, ‘She’s shy and she doesn’t know what she feels, and she is completely lacking in technique, but the important thing is that she is beautiful! Look at her feet! Look at her heels! Have you ever seen such beautiful heels, such fine lines?’48 What Stiller may not have known at the time was that Greta loathed her feet because they were so big.


In the meantime, having won over his production team, Stiller summoned Greta and Mona Mårtenson for a screen-test at the Rasunda Studios, on the outskirts of Stockholm. As had happened with the auditions, the director kept them waiting for two hours – watching them through a spy-hole in the wall and gleaning sardonic pleasure from seeing Greta in particular trembling with terror at the prospect of what lay ahead. She is on record as having jumped to her feet and curtsied the instant he strode into the room, which must have satisfied his ego no end. Throughout their brief but turbulent working relationship, he would alternate between treating her like a princess – when the press were around – and something he had just scraped off the bottom of his shoe when they were not. Greta never really knew where she was with him. For her test, she was instructed to lie on a chaise-longue and pretend to be ill. When she failed to do this to Stiller’s satisfaction, he yelled something along the lines of, ‘You don’t know how to be sick? And you call yourself an actress?’ The part of the Countess Elisabeth Dohna was already hers – Stiller was just enjoying making her suffer. Greta heaved and almost choked, and still this horrible man dismissed her without giving her an answer there and then.49


It was not until 23 July, almost six months since her first interview with Stiller, that Greta and Mona Mårtenson learned they would be in the film. Their salary was to be a non-negotiable 3,000 kroner each, around one tenth what Stiller was paying Lars Hanson. Because Greta was a minor, the contract was countersigned by her mother, believed to have been the only time Anna Gustaffson met Stiller, to whom she took an instant dislike. Greta set most of the money aside for a rainy day, buying only a ring for her mother and having a telephone installed at their apartment.


Exactly how Greta Gustaffson became Greta Garbo is not known, save that the formal application to the Ministry of the Interior was completed and signed, again by Anna, on 9 November. The document, equating to the UK Deed Poll, was filed, and the new name made official on 4 December. Long after Garbo had resigned from the movies, Mimi Pollak claimed to have come up with the name, as did Kalle Pedersen – by that time, Carl Brisson. Stiller also claimed unlikely responsibility for the moniker, declaring GARBO was made up from the first letters he had scribbled on a pad while discussing her qualities with a journalist: Gor Alla Roller Beromvart Opersonligt (Plays All Roles In Commendably Impersonal Fashion). The likeliest explanation is that Greta herself probably came up with it just by playing with words, and that she was renamed after no one or nothing in particular.


At Rasunda, Garbo and Mona Mårtenson shared a room – the ‘official’ reason being that, at twenty-two, Mona was the underaged Garbo’s chaperone. Each day, before breakfast, Garbo strolled with Stiller through the woods which surrounded the studio – he voicing aloud his ideas for the day’s shooting, she instructed to listen but not allowed any opinion of her own. Later, she accompanied him while he inspected the sets – forty-eight of them constructed around the Rasunda lot. It was not Garbo’s company that interested the director, but keeping her away from the rest of the unit. Stiller remained in the room while she was changing into her costumes; he stood behind the chair, staring back at her through the mirror, while she was in Make-up. He vetted which actors she should speak to, which ones she should ignore. While shooting, if she made the slightest error he bawled her out in front of everyone. He is quoted as having compared her with a half-wild filly, saying, ‘She’s still inexperienced. But I’m ruthless with her. Wait till I’ve broken her in!’50 51 


Several times while making Gösta Berlings Saga Garbo almost threw in the towel – it was only because of the press interest in the film, and her, that she did not. Earlier in the week, Stiller had been interviewed by Filmjournalen’s Inga Gaate, who had been unkind while comparing his actresses to their American counterparts:




Acting in front of the camera requires calm and concentration above all. You have to be able to relax … American actors are enormously skilful. Their training is incredible. Here in Sweden we have a shortage of film talent, particularly amongst the women. The Swedish woman eats too much and takes too little care of herself.52





Inga Gaate asked to interview Garbo. Stiller permitted them just five minutes together, instructing his protégée that she must speak only about the film and that if he entered the conversation, she should only say nice things about him. Garbo warned her, ‘I’m one of those people who speak first, think later. So please don’t write down everything that I say!’ Gaate first asked her if she found filming tough – though what she really wanted to know was if it was tough working with Stiller. ‘Terribly,’ Garbo replied. ‘I’m finding it very difficult, but Stiller’s the most generous person I know. You don’t get angry or upset with him, no matter how many times he tells you off. He creates individuals, then shapes them in line with what he wants.’53


Garbo and Stiller always addressed each other by their surnames, as she would almost everyone in the future, even close friends. Then, within the space of a minute, with little pressure from the reporter, she was contradicting herself, saying with a laugh, ‘I’m a nice, well-behaved girl who does get very upset if people are nasty to me. Of course, you do have to be a little cheeky at times – though it’s not very ladylike. It may well be that I don’t have too much of that delightful quality!’


When Stiller read this he was furious, and gave orders that no reporters were to be admitted to the Rasunda lot unless personally vetted by him. Garbo was instructed to speak to no one, not even the other actors, unless he was present. This suited her perfectly. Her pre-Method style of acting meant that, when preparing a scene, she would psyche herself up to such an extent that it was impossible to relate to anything extant of that scene.


Selma Lagerlöf had published her novel in 1891, when Swedish Neo-romanticism had been at its zenith. A morose epic of bleak landscapes, upper-class grotesques, mystery, decadence, religion and elements of the supernatural, it was inspired by the Icelandic sagas she had read as a child. Stiller spared no expense on detail: the furniture, bought or hired, dated exactly from the Napoleonic period. Costumes were copied from original patterns, down to the last stitch. What Stiller failed to do was to adhere faithfully to Lagerlöf’s story incurring her wrath, but for which he may be excused – her book has so many plots, sub-plots and twists, flash-backs, and flashbacks within flashbacks that at times it becomes extremely confusing.




 





The film opens with Gösta arriving at Borg Manor, where Countess Märta Dohna (Ellen Cederström), unaware that he is a defrocked priest and thinking him ideal husband material, employs him as tutor to her stepdaughter, Ebba (Mona Mårtenson). The Countess’s plan is for Ebba to marry a commoner; for some reason this is the only way she will re-inherit nearby Ekeby Castle, confiscated some years before, and guarantee that her son, Henrik (Torsten Hamméren), and not Ebba, will inherit Borg. Ekeby belongs to Margaretha Samzelius (Gerda Lundeqvist), who also owns the local tinmine. Ebba falls for the cleric, but everything changes when the priggish Henrik arrives home with his pretty Italian bride, Elizabeth. (Garbo making her appearance with the words, ‘Dio mio, in Italia the grapes are sweeter!’) The couple are feted at Ekeby. (In a split-second scene, removed for British and American audiences, while hoisted onto the guests’ shoulders and being carried around the banqueting hall, a breast pops out of Garbo’s low-cut gown.) Ekeby has a sinister side, however, housing a number of debauched drop-outs from Napoleon’s army, and it is to here that Gösta flees when he reveals he has feelings for Elizabeth and Märta learns of his defrocking. Ebba dies of a broken heart, while Gösta participates in the debauchery and falls for visiting socialite Marianne Sinclaire (Jenny Hasselqvist). Marianne brings shame on her family by sleeping with the priest, subsequently wanders off into the snow and for reasons known only to the scriptwriter contracts smallpox and loses her looks. Margaretha, meanwhile, is exposed as an adultress by her husband and is kicked out of Ekeby, returning to set fire to the place, unaware that Marianne is inside. Gösta rescues Marianne, tells her it is over between them, and is driving his sleigh to who knows where when he sees Elizabeth stumbling through the snowy wilderness. He sweeps her up on to the sleigh, and while they are chased by wolves exclaims, ‘Is not Don Juan as swift as the wind?’ To which she responds, ‘Do you think me frightened of a knight’s mad whim? Gösta Berling, I have always believed in you. Return to Ekeby, build it up again, and become a real man at last!’ – her way of saying that she is in love with him. (In the condensed version of the film, one assumes Don Juan is Gösta himself, but in the restored print it is revealed that it is actually his horse! A scene was also cut in which Gösta kisses Elizabeth’s hand, and she reacts as if having an orgasm.) It then emerges that Elizabeth and Henrik were never legally married. All ends well when Gösta rebuilds Ekeby, and Margaretha gives it to him and Elizabeth as a wedding present.




 





In the film, Garbo and Lars Hanson look exceedingly good together, and one finds it hard to believe that he is thirty-seven, and she twenty years younger. Much of this has to do with the actors’ natural beauty, the fact that even before Hollywood had worked on them, there was no such thing as a bad shot for either – Garbo, windblown and dishevelled, and Hanson, smoke-ravaged and covered in mire, still look astonishing, and with Julius Jaenzon’s unique halo-lighting, almost holy. Swathed in furs, the snowflakes swirling about them in the icy wasteland, they create a vision of astonishing loveliness.


In her solo scenes, Garbo is equally mesmerising. When picking flowers in her garden, after learning that her marriage is invalid – such is the pained look on her face that she really does appear to be carrying the weight of the world on her shoulders. Her scenes with Gerda Lundequist are no less fascinating. Lundequist (1871–1959), known as ‘The Swedish Sarah Bernhardt’, appeared rarely in films. ‘She has the most amazing eyes of any person. So much soul, and so tired, always,’ Garbo said of her.54 


The only ‘downside’ to the production is the effect the orthochromatic film has on some of the actors’ faces. Until 1925, this type of negative was sensitive only to the brightest natural light and large ultraviolet lamps were used universally. As this registered only blue light, anything red – such as the actors’ lips – showed up black on the screen. Similarly, flesh-toned faces appeared darker than usual, which is why so many of the early silents’ stars wore heavy white pancake make-up. The negative also played tricks with the actors’ eyes, particularly if these were blue: Garbo’s eyes appear much lighter than they were while Hanson’s, which were very prominently blue, appear to be starting out of their sockets – a bonus when portraying the over-excited Gösta Berling in the pulpit and sleigh scenes.


The production also had its moments of very real danger. Stiller refused to hire stuntmen, believing that actors reacted better to hazardous situations if they were actually experiencing them. Therefore, it is Garbo and Hanson that we see on the speeding sleigh – an arduous scene for the cameraman to capture because his own sleigh, along with the heavy equipment, had to be speeding alongside them. Stiller cheated with the wolves, hiring six Alsatians and weighting down their tails so they would not wag. At one point during the lengthy scene, five of the dogs turned on the smallest of the pack and ripped it to shreds. Stiller left the sequence in.


Additionally, Stiller insisted that the Ekeby set be razed to the ground for real during the fire scene – the costliest ever filmed on Swedish soil. Lars Hanson suffered cuts, bruises, and burns to his hands and knees while shooting it. ‘I’m burning!’ he screamed at one point, bringing the response from Stiller, who had not finished filming the scene, ‘Then you’ll just have to burn a little longer!’ Inga Gaate observed, ‘There he was, roaring like a lion, sweat pouring down his face, having fun like a little boy who jumps on his first fire truck to watch his first fire!’55,56


The day after shooting wrapped, the eighteen-year-old Garbo became a recluse, setting a precedent for the future. The affair with Mona Mårtenson had not survived the shooting schedule, though as with most of her lovers they would remain friends. She travelled alone to Värmland, where she rented a small cottage in the middle of nowhere: 




I went away to the country. Yes, I was alone. I always went away alone. That is what I like. To go away, far into the country alone. Some people need to be with people. I need to be alone, always. It is so wonderful alone in the summer … you can spend all night long in the open. The little noises of the country, the wonderful air. Ah, it gets to you!57





The film in the can, and declaring she never wanted to see Stiller again because of the way he had treated her, Garbo returned to the Academy, where she had been elevated to the status of ‘star pupil’. This meant that, even though still a first-year student, she was paid 150 kroner a month, and permitted to more or less choose her own roles. In January 1924, she opened in Richard Kessler’s German comedy, The Tortoiseshell Comb, playing the part of Frau von Brandt.


Meanwhile, Stiller set about editing Gösta Berlings Saga, working around the clock, refusing to compromise when asked by SFI to trim the lengthier scenes. Subsequently he ended up with an unheard of fourteen reels – at almost four hours, more than twice the length of a regular feature at that time. It was therefore decided to release the production in two sections: Part 1 premiering at Stockholm’s Roda Kvam Cinema on 10 March, Part Two a week later. The notes in the commemorative programme were attributed to the scriptwriter Cavallius, though they were in fact penned by Stiller himself, who boasted there were two potentially great actresses (Garbo, Mårtenson) in his film, and that he alone had made them so:




What are these young and charming girls but clay in the hands of the master modeller? Does then the clay not have the same value as the hands that form it? Infinitely more! In a few years, Greta Garbo will be known and admired all over the world. For hers is the gift of beauty, a rare personal and characteristic beauty!58





But the Swedish critics were not impressed. Garbo was criticised for the state of her hair, which does look as if it has not seen a brush in months. Indeed, the only time that her hair does not look a mess is when it is concealed beneath a bonnet – when she and Lars Hanson are flying across the snow on Gösta’s sleigh. Fuelled by Selma Lagerlöf’s frequently bitchy comments about Stiller in the press, detractors also agreed that he had ‘mangled’ her book to make it almost unrecognisable, leaving out important scenes while emphasising and extending the final sleigh scene and the razing of Ekeby, minor incidents in the novel. This was unfair. The twenty-minute fire scene had added excitement precisely at the right time when the scenario had become a little dull – while the one with Garbo and Hanson on the sleigh remains one of the defining moments of the European cinéma muet.


From Stockholm, the trio of Stiller, Garbo and Gerda Lundequist travelled to Berlin – the director completely undeterred by the critical panning because Trianon-Film AG, one of the country’s most prestigious companies, had bought the rights to screen Gösta Berlings Saga for 100,000 marks, a fortune at the time, with an option that if it did well at the German box-office, Stiller and his protégée would be offered contracts. David Schlatter, the head of Trianon, had imposed two conditions: firstly, that Stiller re-edit the film so that it could be viewed in a single showing and secondly, that Garbo should attend the premiere. Stiller refused to cut one foot of Garbo’s performance, resulting in her sharing equal screen time with Lars Hanson.


Garbo decided she liked Berlin because of its smell, and also because something about it had convinced her that this was her second time on earth. ‘The smell of the city,’ she later enthused, ‘an amazing smell that has everything in it. I had not been in a big city before, but I could feel the smell long before we were really in the city. It was as though I’d smelled it before!’59


Roger Normand, who Garbo saw each time she visited Paris, remembered how she would size up a city, a street, a building, or even a room just by its smell:




She would walk into a place, glance about her for a moment, then hug the drapes, close her eyes and throw her head back and exclaim, ‘Oh, this is such a good room. How I can smell the love in it!’ Then she would clomp around, touching everything and purring, ‘Hello, sofa! Hello, chair! Good to make your acquaintance! I shall definitely come here again!’ Or she would pass a building, a restaurant perhaps, and she would press her nose against the stone and say, ‘No, this isn’t a good place at all. Let’s go eat someplace else!’60





The premiere took place on 21 August. ‘Berlin received us charmingly. I like the Germans. They don’t try to get too near to one,’ Garbo recalled. Wearing a fur-trimmed dress and cloche hat, she refused to speak to reporters before the screening, but as the credits rolled, she received such a rousing ovation that she felt compelled to say a few words. ‘Thank you very much for coming. And now, if you’ll excuse me, I’m very tired,’ she pronounced in hesitant German.61


The film was a big hit in Germany – Trianon recovered their outlay in just one week. Indeed, it was successful all over Europe, though not in Sweden, where Selma Lagerlöf was still on the warpath, threatening to sue SFI for ‘misappropriation’ of her work. Garbo had also changed her opinion about not wanting to work with Stiller again. She had become an overnight sensation in Germany, and was not up to being bullied any more. Now, when he was rude to her, she snarled back, ‘Fan ta dig (fuck you) Stiller!’ She had money in the bank, and independence. Success had gone to her head. Berlin, however, was not Stockholm, and no sooner had she settled back in at Blekingageten than she was returned to earth with a bump. Gösta Berlings Saga had not made a profit at the Swedish box-office; no studio wanted to hire Stiller, or employ her while she was still tied to him. She was left with no option but to return to the Academy. In October–November 1924 she appeared in several productions, including Jules Romain’s The Triumph Of Medicine.


Stiller, however, had every intention of holding on to his star-in-the-making. During breaks from shooting Gösta Berlings Saga, scriptwriter Ragnar Hyltén-Cavallius had been adding the finishing touches to a screen adaptation of Russian exile Vladimir Semitjov’s novel, Odalisken fran Smolna (The Odalisque from Smolensk), which had been recently serialised in a Sunday newspaper. Set in the after-math of the Russian Revolution, this tells the story of aristocrat Maria Ivanovna, who escapes from Petrograd’s Smolny Convent – formerly Lenin’s headquarters – to search for her missing lover. Learning he is in Constantinople (now Istanbul), she stows away on a ship which crosses the Black Sea. Discovered by the captain, she is drugged and sold into the harem of a villainous Turkish prince. When he is murdered, she is the prime suspect, but all ends well and she is reunited with her lover.62


Having seen what the Stiller had done to Selma Lagerlöf’s novel – and not wishing to turn down the reputed 50,000 kroner for the screen rights, which Stiller is said to have paid out of his own pocket – Vladimir Semitjov spent a great deal of time with Cavallius at Stiller’s house on Boson Island, ensuring he adhered to the original story. Playing Maria’s lover would be Stiller’s latest casting-couch discovery, Einar Hanson, but Garbo initially turned down the part of the heroine – changing her mind when Stiller announced that Conrad Veidt had been signed for the part of the prince. The German actor (1893–1943) had risen to prominence as the somnambulist in The Cabinet of Dr Caligari (1920), but in the gay circles within which Garbo moved he was revered for the controversial Anders als die Andern (Different from the Others, 1919). Made during the Weimar Republic, this story of the violin teacher who falls in love with a male student was the first-ever sympathetic portrayal of homosexuality on film.


Garbo found an invaluable ally in Einar Hanson (1899–1927), like most of Stiller’s lovers inordinately handsome, much younger than he was, and treated like the proverbial doormat. Hanson was sharing Stiller’s bed for no other reason than the advancement of his career, and knew that he would be dropped the moment another submissive young protégé came along, by which time he hoped to have made the big time. He and Garbo spent a lot of time whispering in corners, poking fun at Stiller behind his back, sending him up. This helped them to cope with his frequently intolerable mood-swings.


As before, Stiller insisted that Odalisken fran Smolna should be as authentic as possible, no matter the cost. The locations would be filmed in Constantinople, reducing the necessity for expensive sets: the sunshine would be free, and further savings would be made hiring Turkish extras for almost nothing, as opposed to using Swedish actors with darkened faces. He concluded that it would easily be completed in less than three months – half the time it had taken to shoot the last one.


Trianon’s David Schlatter had offered Stiller virtual carte-blanche to work on a production of his choice, but balked at a story about the Russian Revolution. Stiller’s reaction was to take to his bed – his doctors claiming the shock of rejection had put him there, but that a few weeks working in sunny Turkey would return him to full health. In fact, he was much more seriously ill than perhaps he himself realised. Schlatter capitulated: a contract was drawn up on 10 September 1924 offering Stiller a staggering 150,000 marks to direct the film, while Garbo and Hanson were offered five-year contracts with the studio, starting out at 500 marks a month, whether they were working or not.


Stiller should have been grateful, but demanded more. His actors, he declared, were only happy working with Swedish technicians – Garbo would only ever permit Julius Jaenzon to photograph her, and only Svensk Filmindustri’s make-up lady, Ester Lundh, was ever permitted to touch her face and hair. Similarly, Stiller would work with no artistic director other than Vilhelm Bryde. Schlatter put his foot down. Stiller would be allowed Jaenzon, but everyone else would be supplied by Trianon, otherwise the deal was off. Begrudgingly, Stiller agreed to these terms when he and his team returned to Berlin in mid-November.


It was here that everything changed for Garbo. Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer’s Louis B. Mayer was visiting Europe with his family to inspect the Rome locations of Fred Niblo’s epic Ben-Hur: A Tale of the Christ. The film was running way over budget on account of innumerable production problems, and after giving instructions for the set to be closed down and the unit transferred to California, Mayer and his family headed for Berlin.


Mayer (1885–1957) was both revered and feared as one of the most powerful moguls in Hollywood. In 1924 he held the position of vice-president and general manager of the recently formed MGM – a merger between Marcus Loew’s Metro Pictures, Sam Goldwyn, and his own film company. He was a man of few scruples: his stars had to toe the line and adhere to his stringent ‘family values’ rules, for which they were rewarded with massive salaries, and a lifestyle beyond their wildest dreams. And if these rules were broken, such was Mayer’s sway that they could be assured of never working in the movies again.


During the afternoon of Sunday 23 November, Mayer and his family attended a screening of Gösta Berlings Saga, and his daughter, Irene, recalled his comments the instant Garbo’s face appeared on the screen:




Look at that girl! There’s no physical resemblance, but she reminds me of Norma Talmadge – her eyes. The thing that makes Talmadge a star is the look in her eyes … Stiller’s fine, but the girl, look at the girl! … I’ll take her without him, or I’ll take them both [but] number one is the girl!63





In fact, Mayer had already seen the film in Hollywood – but apparently had not taken much notice of Garbo then – at the behest of Lillian Gish, who had wanted Lars Hanson as her leading man in The Scarlet Letter – the saga of another priest who goes off the rails, this time getting a married woman pregnant. The film was to be directed by Victor Seastrom – the former Victor Sjöström, now a respected figure in Hollywood. Seastrom had never stopped singing Stiller’s praises, and Mayer promised to look him up while in Europe.


When Mayer snapped his fingers, the lackeys jumped to attention. Within an hour of leaving the cinema, Stiller and Garbo were duly summoned to his suite at the Adlon Hotel that same evening. She, however, did not take kindly to being ordered around, and Stiller needed time to prepare for his big moment. Excuses were made – hardly the kind of behaviour Mayer was used to – and the meeting took place on the Wednesday, over dinner in the plush Maiden Room, where Stiller tipped the head waiter to ensure they would be allotted a table in a quiet corner of the restaurant, out of earshot of the other diners and where they would not be disturbed. Garbo’s chair was placed in front of a floral display – with a lamp positioned in exactly the right spot so that the light would fall on her profile, showing this to best advantage, reflected in the mirror on the wall next to her. As if to thwart her mentor, she wore the dowdiest dress she could find, and a cheap black taffeta hat.


Tyrannical much of the time, Mayer could turn on the charm if he wanted to, though he was far from polite towards Garbo, as she recalled:




Mr Mayer hardly looked at me the first time I saw him. Well, maybe out of the corner of one eye. He put a contract [sic] before me. I asked Stiller if I should sign. I always obeyed Stiller instinctively … Stiller told me to sign it, and I did. I was to get $100 a week for forty weeks the first year, $600 the second year, and $750 the third.64
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